
RIGHT: A row 

of white houses 

on Third Street 

and a six-over-

six window on 

one of the cityôs 

oldest residences 

on Second Street 

BELOW: On 

Second Street, a 

modern ñneo-

Victorianò office 

building sits 

next to a relocat-

ed Queen Anne 

house. 

D 
elighted camera-clicking tourists are a common site in 

front of the world-renowned Carson Mansion. After 

all, it is Eurekaôs jewel in a crown of late 19th- and 

early 20th-century architecture.  

The next stop is often a few blocks away: Old Townôs elegant 

shopping district, where preserved commercial buildings serve 

modern needs while standing as testaments to stellar craftsman-

ship and a history of remarkable highs and lows. 

The blocks in-between these iconic sections of the city may go 

overlooked. This is the residential portion of the oldest part of 

Eureka, and it also rates the 

spotlight. Here lived the people 

who made both the mansion and 

the shops possible. In 1991, 

when Old Town was placed on 

the National Register of Histor-

ic Places, this section was an 

equal player in the evaluation 

process. Its story is well worth 

telling. 

Mansionõs 
shadow 

In the 

Residential Old Town:  
A place to celebrate 



I  n their own humble way, the two small houses at 1134 and 1136 Third Street are arguably as 

historically important to the cityôs history as the 

grand Carson Mansion a block away. 

Among Eurekaôs oldest buildings, they are vernac-

ular Greek Revivals, a style of architecture which 

predominated the fledgling Settlement Era from 1850 

to 1870. 

ñWhat a wonderful building,ò says Kathleen Stan-

ton, the historic resources consultant who led the 

effort to have Old 

Town placed on the 

National Register. 

Stanton picks up a 

copy of  a vintage pho-

tograph of what is 

likely the older of the 

two houses. Built in the 1850s, it once had ribbon-like barge-

board draped along the roofline. 

 ñThatôs incredibly graceful. You just donôt see that anymore,ò 

Stanton said, adding: ñand thatôs a very ancient door style. 

Theyôre very rare.ò 

The second house, dating back to the 1860s, still boasts its 

original six-over-six divided light, 

double-hung windows. 

    ñThatôs important for many rea-

sons,ò Stanton said. ñYou can date 

a building by looking at its windows.ò  

    Up until the 1880s, she explained, windowpanes ð or 

ñlightsòð were necessarily small due to the limits of  technology 

and difficulties in transportation.  

ñToday, if you have six-over-six divided light windows, you 

have something rare. Itôs the historic fabric,ò she said. 
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ABOVE: Eurekaôs 

first houses were 

similar to these at 

Third and M 

streets. A vintage 

photograph of the 

oldest one shows 

few changes over 

150 years. 
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1850s-60s ñ 

A  pioneer settlement 



According to Ray Thompson, whose 

family has owned the buildings for more 

than eight decades, the oldest house was 

originally located near where the Carson 

Mansion now stands, and it was built for 

the countyôs first sheriff. It was later 

owned, and may have been 

lived in, by lumber baron 

William Carson. After the 

mansion was built, he had it 

moved. 

ñThey used oxen teams to 

drag the house over,ò said 

Thompson, whose grandpar-

ents took up residence there 

in the   late 1920s. 

The younger of the two 

was built on-site for Thomas 

Baird, a native of New 

Brunswick, Canada. In 1853, 

a 25-year-old Baird arrived 

unceremoniously on the 

North Coast. Bypassing 

Humboldt Bayôs treacherous 

bar, his ship headed for Trin-

idad, where passengers were taken ashore 

via surfboat. 

ñ(Baird) was sick at the time é and 

was washed out of the boat,ò the Hum-

boldt Times reported in his obituary more 

than 55 years later. ñWhen he was res-

cued, he was nearly dead.ò  

But not quite. Nursed back to health, Baird eventually owned 

valuable wharf properties and an opera house bearing his name. 

In time, he also built a grander home at E and Seventh streets ð 

a common scenario in 19th-century Eureka.  

The Graham family has a similar tale. George Graham was a 

thriving riverboat pilot in Mississippi who gave it up for Califor-

niaôs gold mines. Leaving behind his wife Sarah and infant son 

Thomas in 1852, he traversed the Great Plains to the Sierra Ne-

vada mines. Finding no gold, he revised his plans within a year. 

After a storm-ravaged 13-day sea journey from San Francisco, 

Graham landed in Eureka on March 

12, 1853 and soon bought land on 

Second Street between I and J. Send-

ing for Sarah and Thomas, he had a 

modest home built for his family that 

would eventually include three more 

children. One, a son, died accidentally at age 5. 

At first Sarah Graham was one of only 10 to 20 women in 

town, and she became a trusted midwife. In later years, her two 

daughters, Mercy and Maggie, assisted her. 

Georgeôs endeavors eventually encompassed lumbering, 

ranching and real estate. He and Thomas were also skilled car-

penters, constructing several houses along Second and Third.  

In 1873 the Grahams built what the Eureka Heritage Society 

describes as ña very elegantò Italianate double-house at 822-826 

Second St. The modest dwelling shows that Eureka was begin-

ning to move beyond its frontier status. 
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In the 1870s many 

houses were still 

simple (top left) 

but fancier styles 

emerged, includ-

ing a Gothic Re-

vival at Third and 

G (above) and an 

Italianate double-

house at 822-826 

Second St. (left) 

Humboldt County Historical Society  

The 1870s ñ 

 Emerging style 
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D uring its first two decades, small and isolated Eureka looked much like the New England hometowns of its 

settlers from Maine, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick. By the 

1870s, however, steamship service had improved, and Hum-

boldters began to be influenced by fashionable urban centers 

along the West Coast. 

Eurekans started using high-style architectural pattern books, 

even noted architects, for their new houses. Thriving local lum-

ber mills readily supplied needed materials to builders.  

Gothic Revival and Italianate houses from the 1870s and ô80s 

show the first stages of this evolution. They are adorned with 

more picturesque woodwork along rooflines, above windows and 

around entryways. 

Enter Queen Anne. This exuberant style outdid them all. In 

myriad variations, its irregular shapes could be adorned with 

multiple turrets, towers, bay windows, verandas, a variety of  

wall surfaces, carved wood brackets, stained-glass windows    

and patterned shingles. 

ñNearly every available space is a display of color and crafts-

manship,ò reports the book ñEureka: An Architectural View.ò  

The Carson Mansion outdid them all. Designed by noted San 

Francisco architects Samuel and J. Cather Newsom in the mid-

1880s, it also inspired others, so much so that the Newsoms 

opened a branch office in Eureka. 

ñWithin weeks (they) had drawn plans for several other build-

ings in town,ò Stanton stated. ñTheir work locally é influenced 

new construction until the turn of the century.ò 

 

                 The 1880s & 1890s ñ 

In the 1880s, the lumber industry entered one of its most 

prosperous eras, and the cityôs new houses blossomed in un-

precedented fashion. Chief among them was the new Stick-

Eastlake style. It boasted intricate posts, brackets and railings 

that could now be created on mechanical lathes.                

More  delicate spindles and latticework  

added to the fancywork.  
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Other lumber barons built their own ultra-grand mansions 

throughout the growing city, though none could match Carsonôs 

edifice. Yet even the middle and upper-middle class Queen    

Annes proved to be impressive, and they are richly represented in      

residential Old Town. 

All but one of the houses along the 900 block of Third Street is 

done in the Queen Anne style. The blockôs story has been retold 

on a Native Sons of the Golden West plaque that was dedicated at 

Third and K streets in 2007. All of these houses were built be-

tween 1884 and 1904 for Samuel McFarland, William Carsonôs 

brother-in-law and foreman of the Dolbeer-Carson lumber mills. 

Two of the houses ð 911 and 917 Third St. ð are believed to be 

Newsom designs. 

Three other impressive Victorians farther west on Third Street 

were built by either George or Thomas Graham. They had re-

mained busy over the years, and even helped build Carsonôs man-

sion, according to an article by a descendent, Robert Roy Living-

ston, in the fall 1998 issue of the Humboldt Historian.  

The two-story Queen Anne at 835-837 Third St., he wrote,  

holds special familial importance.          ð Continued on Page 6 

Victorian blossoms 
Queen Anne lead the parade of  

flamboyant, late 19th-century homes 

 

A horse-drawn carriage excursion through 

residential Old Town includes a ride past the 

intact north side of the 900 block of Third Street. 
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    It was the two-flat home of the 

Graham sisters and their husbands. 

The visually complex house com-

bines Queen Anne with Eastlake 

elements, including a second-story 

polygonal bay window topped with 

an unusual chamfer-style roof, a 

first-floor pedimented window, and 

abstract tree and sunburst designs 

in the two gabled ends. 

    Thomas and his parents all died 

in the midï to late 1890s. Mercy 

and Maggie continued on together 

even after their husbands died, liv-

ing in San Francisco for a while. As 

elders, the Graham sisters returned 

to the fancy Third Street house in 

Eureka. They died in 1943. 

    Robert Livingston, Maggieôs 

grandson, left Eureka in 1977.  

Each time he returned, he went back to the see the 1853 family 

home on Second Street. It was sad to see its slow deterioration 

over the decades. He hoped to one day buy and restore his great-

grandparentsô home, but it was demolished in the 1990s. 

ñTo me,ò Livingston wrote, ñit represented all their hopes and 

dreams fulfilled in coming to Eureka in 1853.ò 

 After the house was gone, he took a piece of the foundation 

home and mortared it into the wall around his garden.  

Three houses along the 700 block of Third Street   

(left) are seen shortly after they were built. Today  

two remain (below). Both were built by the Grahams. 

This two-flat Queen Anne house at Third and J 

streets was built in the 1890s for the Graham sisters. 

Humboldt State University 

Mercy, Thomas and 

Maggie Graham,  

circa 1885 


